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We owe most of our knowledge about Edward Lloyd to the research of Charles Wright and C Ernest Fayle, authors of A History of Lloyd's, 1928. There had been much contradictory conjecture before this time, some of which is still to be found in some reference books. The following are the known facts of the worthy man's story. 

The earliest known records of the Lloyd's family are held within the parish registers of All Hallows Church, which is located near the Tower of London. The registers record the burial of Edward Lloyd's son, Edward, on September 21, 1680. The name of Lloyd's wife is also recorded in the entry as Abigail. There is no mention within earlier registers of Lloyd's marriage to Abigail or of the birth of his son and two eldest daughters, Abigail and Elinor. This suggests that the family were relative newcomers to the parish at the time of young Edward's death. On May 29, 1680, another daughter, Mary, was baptised at All Hallows and the baptism of a son, Hugh, took place there on December 5, 1681. The records of the Faculty Office of Canterbury, Kent, show Edward Lloyd to be 50 years of age in 1698, he must, therefore, have been about 32 at the time of his son's death in 1680.

Lloyd's coffee house

For the first recorded news of Edward Lloyd's coffee house, we owe a debt of gratitude to 'A middle sized Man, having black curled hair, Pockholes in his Face, Wearing an Old Brown Riding Coat, and a black Bever Hat'. This malodorous gentleman stole five watches from a Mr. Edward Bransbury in 'Darby', and the London Gazette for February 18-21, 1689 carried an advertisement announcing a Guinea Reward to anyone giving information about the thief at Mr. Edward Lloyd's Coffee House in Tower Street. The following issue of the Gazette, in a similar advertisement, stated that the enterprising thief had also stolen a horse.

These announcements are our first news of the coffee house. From them, and from the fact that others followed them at frequent intervals, we might deduce that the coffee house had only recently been opened. Another clue is that in these two announcements the name was spelt 'Loyd'. In all articles/ announcements, the correct spelling was used and references were always made to 'Lloyd's Coffee House', without the first name. 

At the end of 1691, Edward Lloyd moved to no. 16 Lombard Street, in the very centre of the business world. Here the coffee house competed with a number of prosperous venues grouped in the neighbourhood of the Royal Exchange. 

It should be remembered that few London merchants had their own offices or counting-houses at this time. Instead, they transacted much of their business at the Exchange, but news and information were collected in the social atmosphere of the coffee houses, each of which became a centre for specialised interest. Lloyd's was fast attracting all those concerned with shipping and, to his credit, he fostered his interest by collecting all the marine names and gossip available.

Evidence of his arrival in the new parish of St. Mary Woolnoth is seen in the vestry minutes of a meeting on December 31, 1691, and in the poll tax list of 1692 he was assessed on three men and two 'mayds' - the business world was prospering.

Many advertisements in newspapers during the next few years show that auctions and sales, of all kind of merchandise, were a regular feature at the coffee house. Also, like its competitors, the coffee house was a centre of intelligence, where one could read the newspapers and letters from the ports, and listen to the buzz of gossip - political, social or commercial - brought in from the outside world.

Lloyd's News

In 1696, Lloyd decided to cater for this thirst for news by publishing three times a week a paper entitled 'Lloyd's News'. It was a single leaf printed on both sides, containing brief items of foreign and war news, trials, executions, and parliamentary proceedings, but no particular emphasis on shipping news. A complete file number 8, dated September 17, 1696 onward is preserved in the Bodlian Library. The paper was sold for one penny. 

'Lloyd's News' came to an abrupt end at issue no. 76, dated February 23, 1697, which published a statement that the House of Lords had 'received a petition from the Quakers that they may be freed from all offices'. Unfortunately, this was not true. Lloyd was asked to publish a correction in the next issue, but his reply was that the printer had added the statement and he would print no more at present. This was not pig-headedness or petulance on Lloyd's part. If the printer had added one item, he might add something more dangerous next time, and the penalties were very severe.

His newspaper had ended, but Edward Lloyd continued to supply his customers with intelligence sent in by correspondents. This fact is supported, to some extent, by two lines of a poem written in 1700. The author, who remains unknown, mentions the coffee house and describes Lloyd's activities:

"Now to Lloyd's Coffee House; he never fails

To read the letters and attend the sales."

One of Lloyd's bulletins was discovered in recent years and is reproduced in the history of Lloyd's Register by George Blake. Before the bulletins were passed round, a waiter, known as a 'kidney', stepped into the pulpit, which also served for auctions, and read the news in a loud voice. Both the pulpit and the readings seem to have been peculiar to Lloyd's. This tradition has been maintained by Lloyd's of London, who still employ a waiter.

Lloyd's private life

The only glimpse of Lloyd's private life is to be found in the vestry minute books of the united parishes of St. Mary Woolnoth and St. Mary Woolchurch Haw. He took an active part in parish life. In 1697 he was elected sidesman and in 1699 constable and questman of Langbourne Ward. He was elected churchwarden in 1702 and 1703. 

On January 29, 1693, the baptism of another daughter, Handy, was registered. Edward Lloyd's wife, Abigaile, died in August 1698, and was buried in St. Mary Woolnoth. A few months later he married a widow, Elizabeth Mashbourne. 

Apart from the marriages of his daughters Mary and Abigail, we can trace no important events in the following years until December 1710, when Lloyd's name was put forward for nomination as a Common Councillor. In this, and again the following year, he was unsuccessful, but the proposal alone shows that he had become a man of considerable wealth and reputation. His failure can probably be attributed to poor health, suggested by his signatures in 1712.

His second wife, Elizabeth, died on October 2, 1712, and in spite of, or perhaps because of, his failing health, he married Martha Denham two months later.

He made a will in 1713, naming his daughters Mary, Abigail, Elinor and Handy, but not his son Hugh, who had probably died previously. A large legacy was left to his 'dear and loving wife' Martha, and among other bequests he left £100 to his granddaughter Elizabeth, Mary's daughter.

On January 28, he added a codicil, assigning the lease of his coffee house to his head waiter, William Newton. Events moved swiftly thereafter. Handy Lloyd married William Newton on January 30, and on Sunday February 15, 1713, the great Edward Lloyd died. 

His death was announced by the Flying Post of February 14-17, and the Churchwarden's Accounts for February 17 states, 'Recd for Interrmt of Edward Lloyd in ye middle Isle the Moiety of ye Gr: Bell & Ringing it'. Edward Lloyd rested in the church of St. Mary Woolnoth until 1892, when the remains of all those buried in the vaults were removed to the City of London Cemetery at Ilford, to be placed under one common monument. 

The coffee house after Lloyd and Lloyd's List

The manner in which Edward Lloyd arranged the future of his beloved coffee house leaves little doubt that he was concerned not only with its having an efficient master in William Newton, but also that a member of the Lloyd family should still be in the business. The marriage of Handy Lloyd to William Newton must accordingly have pleased the old man in his last illness, but one feels that Handy's heart lay elsewhere. Only 18 months later, at the age of 21, she was left a widow, and lost little time in marrying Samuel Sheppard, a Haberdasher, who had been tenant of the shop below the coffee house about three years before. Their happiness did not last long. Handy died in 1720 and, with her passing, the Lloyd family ceased to have any interest in the business. On Samuel Sheppard's death in 1727, the coffee house passed into the hands of his sister Elizabeth and her husband Thomas Jemson. It was Jemson who founded 'Lloyd's List' in 1734. This paper, unlike the earlier 'Lloyd's News', was at first given entirely over to shipping intelligence, taken to be a sign of the growth of the underwriting business in Lloyd's. 

It is interesting to note that 'Lloyd's List' was the property of at least three masters until the establishment of New Lloyd's Coffee House in 1769, but the register book was founded by a committee formed by the customers. The master's only interest in the proceedings seems to have been collecting subscriptions at the bar.

With 'Lloyd's List', the establishment of shipping correspondents at the ports, and consequently early receipt of ship news, the coffee house continued to grow in importance as the London centre of shipping intelligence. Indeed, its new stature grew independently of the proprietors who are now only names to us. One, at least, deserves mention here though, as the master of the coffee house when the Registers Society was founded in 1760. This was Samuel Saunders, who married the widow of the previous master in April 1754, and took over the business. On his death in February 1763, it became clear that the coffee house had owed much of its good management over the past eight years to him. Saunder's brother in law, Thomas Lawrence, acquired the business as an executor, but installed a manager and lived elsewhere.

From then on the reputation of the coffee house declined. Gambling, speculation and stockjobbing escalated, to the annoyance of respectable customers, leading them in 1769 to induce one of the waiters, Thomas Fielding, to procure new premises at no. 5 Pope's Head Alley. The new house was opened on Tuesday March 21, 1769, as New Lloyd's Coffee House, and a week later the first edition of 'New Lloyd's List' was issued.

For some years there were two Lloyd's coffee houses and two Lloyd's Lists, but we are only concerned here with the majority of the Register Society who decided to migrate with the respectable element to New Lloyd's Coffee House. The rooms at Pope's Head Alley were not really large enough for comfort, and on December 13, 1771, 79 merchants, underwriters and brokers each agreed to subscribe £100 to build an entirely new establishment. The project came to nothing, but the date is important as the foundation of Lloyd's, although it was not until March 7 1774 that the members moved into their new quarters at the Royal Exchange. 
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